INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Horace Brown, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbols "R.", "Tr." and "ST." will be used to refer to portions of the record on appeal, transcripts of the trial court proceedings and supplemental transcript, respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder and, on the defendant's motion, the trial judge ruled that the death penalty was inapplicable to this case and sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment. The defendant appealed his conviction to the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution cross-appealed from the trial court's finding that the death penalty was inapplicable. (A. 1). The District Court, in <u>Brown</u> <u>v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), affirmed the conviction but reversed the life sentence and directed the trial court to submit this case to a properly death - qualified jury for a determination of the penalty to be imposed. In so doing, the Court ruled as follows:

> After the jury returned its verdict of guilty as to first-degree murder, the trial court refused to submit the case to the jury for the penalty phase, holding that the death penalty was inapplicable due to the United State Supreme Court's decision in Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982). We agree with the state's contention that this case is not controlled by Enmund. In Enmund, the defendant was convicted of felony-murder. The United State Supreme Court held that the defendant could not be subjected to the death penalty since he neither took a life, intended to take a life, nor intended that lethal force be used. In the present case, the evidence demonstrates that Brown fully intended the use of deadly force in either ordering or committing the shooting of the victim. Therefore, the trial court should have submitted this case to the jury for the penalty phase for the trial following Brown's conviction for firstdegree murder, pursuant to section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985).

In this appeal, the defendant asks this Court to quash the

decision of the District Court on the ground that it conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court. This Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction on July 2, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Vito Santangelo testified that on December 8, 1982, he was a police officer for the City of North Miami. At 10:25 p.m. he was dispatched to the scene of a shooting at N.W. 12th Avenue and 128th Terrace. He saw a large truck parked there. He also observed a white male on the ground with his left foot in the truck. He saw blood on the man's chest and called Fire Rescue. (Tr. 38).

Arthur Copeland, Associate Medical Examiner for Dade County, testified that on December 8, 1982 he went to the scene of the shooting after being called by Metro Dade Police. The deceased was a 30 year old white man with bullet wounds on the side of his chest and right arm. (Tr. 49). In his boot was found a plastic bag containing about one pound of a white, crystalline substance. (Tr. 50). Later, he performed an autopsy on the victim's body. In his opinion, the cause of Orlando Gomez's death was multiple gun shot wounds. (Tr. 81). The wounds were consistent with the decedent falling to the ground and being shot by a person standing over him. (Tr. 91).

Thomas Quirk, a firearms expert for Metro Dade Police, testified that the two projectiles taken from the victim's body were .38 special or .357 Magnum. (Tr. 100).

Vincent McBee, a criminalist with Metro Dade Police, testified that he examined the victim's shirt to determine the muzzle to target distance, and it was approximately three to four feet. (Tr. 125). He also examined the white powder found in the victim's boot and he found it to contain a little over four ounces of cocaine. (Tr. 127).

-4-

Erik Brown a/k/a Burgess, testified that he is the defendant's son. He came to live with the defendant in June of 1982. His sister Dee Dee was also living with them, as was Denny Haneline. In December of 1982, he and the defendant were arrested at the Miami International Airport for trafficking in cocaine. (Tr. 137). At the bond hearing, Gail Everett, the defendant's girlfriend, testified for Erik. After being released on bond, he agreed to cooperate with prosecutor Novick and Detective Singleton. The case against Erik was still pending. The victim in this case, Orlando Gomez, was his father's friend. He was in the drug business. On December 8, 1982, he saw the victim around 4:30 p.m. at his house. (Tr. 142). The defendant told Erik to tell the victim to come back later, he did so, and the victim Gomez left. The defendant later said "We need some money. We may have to rip Orlando off." (Tr. 144). The defendant and Denny Haneline left after the victim did. Gomez came back between 8:00 and 8:30 p.m. and said he had lost the defendant. Ten minutes later they left in separate cars. Denny Haneline was carrying a black qun in his waistband. (Tr. 147). Later, Denny came back and he had blood on his shirt. Erik left with Denny and the defendant. The defendant said Denny had just shot Orlando. (Tr. 149). They drove to the Holiday Inn by Calder Race Track and Denny signed in. Erik then went home. Later, the defendant called him and told him to take some of his and Denny's clothes and take then to Gail Everett. He did so. The defendant called him the next morning and told him to sell the Datsun which he did. (Tr. 153).

-5-

On cross-examination, Erik Brown admitted he had lied under oath many times in the past. The real reason he agreed to testify against his father was to avoid going to jail on the cocaine charge. (Tr. 161). He said the defendant never told him he was going to "rip off" Orlando. (Tr. 207).

Elaine First, an executive secretary at Holiday Inn Calder, identified a registration card dated December 8, 1982 at 10:58 p.m., and signed by a Samuel Marshal. (Tr. 224).

Gail Everett testified that she first met the defendant in May of 1982. She moved into his house in October of that year and left in early December. She owned at the time a .38 Smith and Wesson revolver. In December, the defendant and his son Erik were arrested on a narcotics charge. She appeared at their bond hearing and lied by saying she was engaged to the defendant in order to get Erik out of jail. (Tr. 230). Later at night on December 8, 1982 the defendant asked her to meet Erik at Hearn's store to pick up the defendant's clothes. She did so and then drove to the Cherry Bay area where she met the defendant and Denny Haneline. She drove them to the Holiday Inn at Calder. (Tr. 235). The defendant told her to say she had been with him that night from 8:00 p.m. to 3:00 a.m. (Tr. 236).

Harry Coleman, a criminalist for Metro Dade, testified as an expert document examiner. At that point, defense counsel stipulated that Denny Haneline was the person who signed the Holiday Inn registration receipt. (Tr. 290).

Alma Kelley testified that she met the defendant then known as Harvey Brown in May or June of 1982. They were lovers for a

-6-

couple of months. In December of 1982, she came to Miami to help the defendant get out of jail. While she was at the defendant's house, a bail bondsman came by and she signed a warranty deed with the signature of Sandra Nottage, who was the defendant's wife. She forged the name at the defendant's request. (Tr. 305). Orlando Gomez came to the defendant's house at 4:00 p.m. on December 8, 1982. The defendant's son told him to come back at 7:00 p.m. (Tr. 308). Gomez returned around 7:30 p.m. After a few minutes, the defendant, Denny Haneline and Gomez left the house. A few minutes later, Denny came back, got a gun and went outside. He got into the defendant's car and they drove off. Orlando Gomez returned fifteen minutes later and waited until the defendant and Denny returned. Then the three left, Orlando in his truck and Denny and the defendant in the defendant's car. (Tr. 312). About a 45 minutes later, the defendant and Denny drove up. Denny came into the house and told Erik to get rid of this shirt and to come with them. There appeared to be blood in the cuff of the shirt. Denny changed shirts and the three of them left. The defendant phoned her about an hour later and said he had to kill Orlando. He called again later and asked her to get some of his clothes (Tr. 315). and to take them to a shopping center. She and Erik drove over to Hearn's and met Gail Everett. Erik threw the clothes into the back seat of Gail's car. (Tr. 317). The defendant called the next day and told her and Erik to sell his car. They sold the car for \$1500.00, and at the defendant's request, Erik delivered \$700.00 of it to a man at a Winn Dixie store. (Tr. 319).

-7-

On cross-examination, Alma Kelley testified that Denny Haneline is a black male. (Tr. 320). When the defendant called her and said he had killed Orlando, the time was 9:35 or 9:40 p.m. She knew later that Orlando had been killed at 10:25 p.m. that night. (Tr. 364).

On re-direct, she testified that she told the Detroit police one month after the killing that the defendant's phone call of admission came at ll:00 p.m. (Tr. 394).

Michael Kreitman testified that on December 8, 1982 at about 10:30 p.m. he saw a man shooting another man. The shooter appeared to be a white man with black hair. (Tr. 4030. He was five foot ten at the most.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Ι

WHETHER THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE PROHIBITS THE STATE OF FLORIDA FROM SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH AFTER THE LIFE SENTENCE HE HAD INITIALLY RECEIVED WAS SET ASIDE ON APPEAL DUE TO AN ERRONEOUS INTERPRETATION OF LAW BY THE TRIAL COURT?

II

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CHARGE THE JURY ON THE ELEMENTS OF THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF TRAFFICKING IN COCAINE WAS HARMLESS ERROR BECAUSE THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTION BASED UPON PREMEDITATED MURDER?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

In reversing the defendant's life sentence and in remanding this case to the trial court for the possible imposition of a death penalty, the District Court has in effect pronounced the following rule of law:

> Where a defendant has been given a lawful life sentence and it is reversed, a trial court on remand can lawfully increase the sentence to death.

This rule directly conflicts with two decisions of this Court which hold that once a defendant has been sentenced, jeopardy attaches and a court may not thereafter on remand increase the severity of the sentence.

II

The trial court's failure to instruct the jury on the elements of the underlying felony of trafficking in cocaine in a felony-murder case was harmful error because there is a reasonable possibility that it affected the verdict.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE PROHIBITS THE STATE OF FLORIDA FROM SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH AFTER THE LIFE SENTENCE HE HAD INITIALLY RECEIVED WAS SET ASIDE ON APPEAL DUE TO AN ERRONEOUS INTERPRETATION OF LAW BY THE TRIAL COURT.

In the case at bar, after the jury returned its verdict of guilty as to first degree murder, the trial court refused to submit the case to the jury for the penalty phase, holding that the death penalty was inapplicable due to the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982). On appeal, the District Court held that the trial court had erroneously construed <u>Edmund</u> and ordered the trial court to submit this case to a jury for a penalty phase. That holding by the District Court was erroneous and in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

The precise issue here was resolved by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Arizona v. Rumsey</u>, 467 U.S. 203, 104 S.Ct. 2305, 81 L.Ed.2d 164 (1984). An Arizona jury found Rumsey guilty of first degree murder. The trial court, with no jury, then conducted a separate sentencing hearing to determine, according to the statutory scheme for considering aggravating and mitigating circumstances, whether death was the appropriate sentence. The trial judge found that no aggravating or mitigating circumstances were present and imposed a life sentence on Rumsey. On appeal, the Supreme Court of Arizona held that the trial court had

-11-

committed an error of law in interpreting the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance to apply only to contract killings. The State Supreme Court set aside the life sentence and remanded for "redetermination of aggravating and mitigating circumstances and resentencing." <u>State v. Rumsey</u>, Ariz., 636 P.2d 1309. On remand the trial court held a new sentencing hearing. The court found no mitigating and one aggravating circumstance and sentenced Rumsey to death. On appeal, the Arizona Supreme Court held that the death sentence violated the constitutional prohibition on double jeopardy and ordered the sentence be reduced to life imprisonment.

On certiorari, the United States Supreme Court affirmed the State Supreme Court and held that

> "Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430, 101 S.Ct. 1852, 68 L.Ed.2d 270 (1981), squarely controls the disposition of this case. Under the interpretation of the Double Jeopardy Clause adopted in that decision, imposition of the death penalty on respondent would be unconstitutional."

It is further submitted that the following reasoning of the Supreme Court in Rumsey is clearly controlling in the case at bar:

> The double jeopardy principle relevant to respondent's case is the same as that invoked in <u>Bullington</u>; an acquittal on the merits by the sole decisionmaker in the proceeding is final and bars retrial on the same charge. Application of the <u>Bullington</u> principle renders respondent's death sentence a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause because respondent's initial sentence of life imprisonment was undoubtedly an acquittal on the merits of the central issue in the proceeding - whether death was the appropriate punishment for respondent's offense. The trial court entered findings denying the existence of each of the

seven statutory aggravating circumstances, and as required by state law, the court then entered judgment in respondent's favor on the issue of death. That judgment, based on findings sufficient to establish legal entitlement to the life sentence, amounts to acquittal on the merits and, as such, bars retrial of the appropriateness of the death penalty.

In making its findings, the trial court relied on a misconstruction of the statute defining the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance. Reliance on an error of law, however, does not change the double jeopardy effects of a judgment that amounts to an acquittal on the merits. "[T]he fact that 'the acquittal may result from erroneous evidentiary rulings or erroneous interpretations of governing legal principles' . . . affects the accuracy of that determination but it does not alter its essential character." United States v. Scott, 437 U.S. 82, 98, 985.Ct. 2187, 2197, 57 L.Ed.2d 65 (1978) (quoting id., at 106, 98 S.Ct. at 2201 (BRENNAN, J., dissenting)). Thus, this Court's cases hold that an acquittal on the merits bars retrial even if based on legal error.

In the case at bar, the Third District Court erroneously reversed the defendant's life sentence because of the trial court's erroneous interpretation of <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>, and remanded for a new death penalty phase. It is submitted that this holding was not only contrary to <u>Rumsey</u>, but was in direct conflict with prior decisions of this Court in <u>Fasenmyer v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1984) and <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u>, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973). In both of those cases, this Court held, consistent with <u>Rumsey</u>, that jeopardy attaches once a sentence has been imposed, and the sentence cannot thereafter be increased because that would constitute a violation of the constitutional right not to be twice placed in jeopardy.

-13-

It is also the defendant's contention that the decision under review is in conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>State v.</u> <u>Carr</u>, 336 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1976). Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1985), contemplates the possibility of the waiver of a jury trial during the sentencing procedure. The record below reflects extensive argument of defense counsel to persuade the trial court not to submit the case to the jury for consideration of the penalty. (ST. 10-15). It is submitted that this argument, made in the presence of the defendant, was sufficient to constitute a waiver. To hold otherwise would conflict with the following ruling of this Court in <u>Carr</u>:

> "We find that the trial judge, upon a finding of a voluntary and intelligent waiver, may in his or her discretion either require an advisory jury recommendation, or may proceed to sentence the defendant without such advisory jury recommendation."

Based on the conflicts above, it is submitted that that portion of the District Court's opinion vacating the life sentence and remanding for a sentencing phase before a jury should be reversed.

-14-

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CHARGE THE JURY ON THE ELEMENTS OF THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF TRAF-FICKING IN COCAINE WAS HARMLESS ERROR BECAUSE THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CON-VICTION BASED UPON PREMEDITATED MURDER.

The facts presented to this point are set out in the opinion under review as follows:

> "The defendant in this case was charged with first degree murder by premeditation or during the commission of a robbery or trafficking in cocaine. In instructing the jury, the trial court failed to give the necessary instructions on the underlying crimes of robbery and trafficking. The jury returned a verdict of guilty to the first degree murder charge without specifying upon which theory it had relied."

The District Court went on to accurately state:

"Because the trial court failed to give the jury an instruction on the supporting felony of trafficking, Brown's conviction may be upheld only if it affirmatively appears from the record that the jury's verdict is supported, beyond a reasonable doubt, by evidence which establishes murder by premeditation so that the error was made harmless."

The District Court then, it is submitted, erroneously ruled as

follows:

"Based upon the record, we find that there is sufficient evidence to support Brown's conviction under the theory of premeditation and because the state relied heavily upon this theory to obtain a conviction, we hold that the trial court's error in failing to give the required instructions did not prejudice Brown. Consequently, this was harmless error."

First of all, the state did not rely strongly on a theory of premeditation. In fact, in his closing argument to the jury, the prosecution made no mention of premeditated murder. He did, however, strongly argue the murder robbery theory, as evidenced by the following statements gleaned from that argument:

"[The victim is] going to be ripped off and killed by Horace Brown." (Tr. 451).

"He's going to take his drugs or take something. He's going to rip him off." (Tr. 452).

"[They ripped off Orlando] to get money to take care of this problem at the airport." (Tr. 514).

Contrary to the District Court's holding, it is submitted that the evidence of premeditation in this case was far from legally sufficient to support the jury's verdict. The evidence as set forth in the preceding Statement of the Facts shows that the actual killer in this case was Denny Haneline, not the defendant. As a matter of fact, the only damaging evidence was Alma Kelley's testimony that the defendant called her and said he had to kill Orlando. (Tr. 315). Such a statement is hardly sufficient to establish premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. The latter is particularly true because Kelley later testified that the defendant made the foregoing statement at 9:35 or 9:40 p.m., even though the murder was committed at 10:25 p.m. that same evening. (Tr. 364).

In an attempt to rehabilitate her testimony on re-direct examination, the prosecution introduced Kelley's prior inconsistent statement to the Detroit police that the defendant's phone call of admission came at 11 p.m. on the night of the homicide. (Tr. 394). The latter was insufficient to prove premeditation because the law is clear in Florida that

-16-

". . . in a criminal prosecution a prior inconsistent statement standing alone is insufficient to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>State v. Moore</u>, 485 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1986).

The defendant would concede that the circumstantial evidence in this case was sufficient to support in the minds of the jurors a suspicion of guilt. However, in <u>Ricard v. State</u>, 181 So.2d 677 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966) the District Court ruled as follows:

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