01a 11-5-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,333

HORACE BROWN,
Petitioner,

vs.

NOV 10 1987
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
By: [Signature]
Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
Attorney General
Tallahassee, Florida

STEVEN T. SCOTT
Assistant Attorney General
Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building
Florida Regional Service Center
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite 820
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

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

² Brown was also convicted of aggravated assault. He was acquitted of robbery.

Brown was immediately sentenced to life in prison (Supp. Tr. 20-21), and the jury was discharged (Supp. Tr. 29-34).

Brown appealed his convictions. The State then cross appealed the trial court's imposition of a life sentence, its refusal to continue the case through the penalty and sentencing phases, and its refusal to properly "death-qualify" a jury (See: State's brief filed in the Third District Court of Appeal).

On appeal, the Third District affirmed Brown's murder conviction. It also reversed his life sentence and ordered the trial court to submit the case to a properly death-qualified jury. Brown v. State, 501 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 3 DCA 1987). It ruled that Enmund did not apply to Brown's case.

This appeal followed.³

2. Procedure in Capital Cases

Procedure in capital cases is strictly regulated by statute. There must be a guilt phase, as advisory penalty phase before a jury, a penalty phase before the court if jury is waived, and then a sentencing phase. F.S. 921.141 (1) through (3).

³ Brown no longer asserts that Enmund precludes the death penalty in his case.

F.S. §921.141. Sentence of death or life imprisonment for capital felonies; further proceedings to determine sentence:

(1) Separate proceedings on issue of penalty. --Upon conviction or adjudication of guilt of a defendant of a capital felony, the court shall conduct a separate sentencing proceeding to determine whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment as authorized by §775.082. The proceeding shall be conducted by the trial judge before the trial jury as soon as practicable. **** (Emphasis supplied).

This Court has held the penalty phase to be mandatory.

The second step of the sentencing procedure is that the jury--the trial jury if there was one, or a specially called jury if jury trial was waived--must hear the new evidence presented at the post-conviction hearing and make a recommendation as to penalty, that is, life or death. (Emphasis supplied).

State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

The defendant may not waive the entire penalty phase. He may only waive a jury advisory sentence. Lamadline v. State, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974); Palmer v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981).

Waiver of the jury advisory sentence must follow the usual procedure in place for any waiver of important rights.

"We hold that the record must affirmatively show that the defendant voluntarily and intelligently waived the right to have a sentencing jury render its opinion on the appropriateness of the death penalty, granted him by the express provision of §921.141, F.S."

Lamadline, at 20.

Regardless of waiver, the State has the absolute right to present its case in favor of death. It has the option of presenting evidence, and it has the right to make argument. "The state and the defendant or his counsel shall be permitted to present argument for or against sentence of death." F.S. 921.141 (1).

It is only after the presentation of evidence and argument that the trial court is empowered to sentence a defendant.

"The court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death." (emphasis supplied) F.S. 921.141 (3).

The sentencing scheme of F.S. 921.141 is detailed and mandatory.

3. Procedural errors committed below

The trial court completely ignored proper procedure. The entire penalty phase, and not just the jury advisory phase, was eliminated over objection by the State.

Regarding a possible waiver of the jury advisory sentence, the record shows that Brown never asked to waive anything. (Supp. Tr. 2-34). Lamadline, supra.

The trial court's refusal to proceed according to law was without even a trace of justification. It applied Enmund, a felony-murder case, to Brown's, a contract killing type of case. The state never had the chance to argue in favor of death.⁴

The State's cross-appeal preserved these errors for appellate review. The Third District ultimately ordered the trial court to conduct a penalty phase according to law.

Although not discussed by the Third Circuit, the trial court's failure to allow the trial to continue through the penalty phase is analogous to what happened in State v.

⁴ The record shows the presence of at least two and possibly three aggravating factors. Brown had previously been convicted of murder in another state, and this was a case of heightened premeditation. Since Brown and the victim were well acquainted with each other, it is possible that F.S. 921.141 (5) (e) also applied. There are no mitigating facts apparent from the record.

Bloom, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986) and State v. Donner, 500 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1987). In our case, the trial court took it upon itself to rule the death penalty inapplicable at a time when the prosecutor had the sole authority to decide whether the case should continue as a death penalty case.

"In this petition the state argues that the circuit judge has no authority to prejudge the death penalty's appropriateness because such a ruling unconstitutionally infringes on an executive function exclusively within a prosecutor's discretion."

* * * *

"[w]e . . . hold that article II, section 3, of the Florida Constitution prohibits the judiciary from interfering with this kind of discretionary executive function of a prosecutor.

We conclude that the circuit judge has no authority to interfere with the prosecutor's discretion in proceeding with this cause as a death penalty case. If we allowed the circuit judge to make pre-trial determination of the death penalty's applicability, we would be modifying the death penalty's statutory scheme. Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1985), mandates that the decision to impose the death penalty must be made in a separate proceeding after an adjudication of guilt. A pre-trial penalty determination by the trial judge would effectively create a statutorily unauthorized trifurcated death sentence procedure." (emphasis supplied).

Bloom at 3.

There is no difference in the reasoning which applied in Bloom and that which should apply in the case at bar. Since the sentencing (penalty) phase is an entirely separate proceeding, and since the decision to go forward as a death case still lies with the prosecutor at that juncture, the trial court has no authority to make a sentencing decision regarding the appropriateness of the death penalty at that time. He may only make that determination after the guilt and penalty phases are complete. The trial court's power to effectively halt the trial proceedings is simply non-existent.

4. Double Jeopardy and the case at bar.

Brown has cited case law⁵ which supposedly precludes a remand for the proper conclusion of his trial. The State strongly disagrees.

Brown's life sentence was illegally imposed. It was imposed in contravention of the proper procedure in capital cases. Double Jeopardy does not bar the imposition of a more severe sentence after an illegally imposed sentence has been vacated.

"The appellants contend that their right not to be placed twice in jeo-

⁵ Arizona v. Rumsey, 467 U.S. 203 (1984); Fasenmeyer v. State, 457 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1984), and Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973).

pardy was violated when their punishment was enhanced in the resentencing proceeding. They argue that they had a legitimate expectation that their sentences were final because (1) they were not at fault in the original sentencing proceeding, and (2) absent statutory authority, their sentences could not be enhanced once they had begun to serve them. The United States counters that no such expectation exists when, as here, the sentence is challenged in a manner provided by law."

* * * *

The appellant's final argument thus rests on their ability to point to a distinction, for double jeopardy purposes, between an illegal sentence and a sentence that is illegally imposed. Although "Rule 35 burdens us with the artificial task of drawing [such] lines" in cases involving the question whether review of a sentence is subject to the 120-day limit of Rule 3 (a) for sentences illegally imposed, see United States v. Cervillos, 538 F.2d 1122, 1128 (5th Cir. 1976), we see no reason, and the appellants give us none, to draw such lines for double jeopardy purposes. While DiFrancesco* did not involve correction of an illegal sentence within the meaning of Rule 35, its rationale, in the constitutional sense, is applicable here. Defendant is charged with knowledge that his sentence, if illegally imposed is subject to correction under Fed.R.Crim.P. 35(a). Under such circumstances, he has no expectation of finality in the sentence he receives. This case is resolved by the plain language of Rule 35," United States v. Henry, 709 F.2d 298, 317 (5th Cir. 1983) (Reavley, J., specially concurring), and DiFrancesco indicates that as thus applied

* this refers to United States v. DiFrancesco, 449 U.S. 117 (1980)

the defendant is not exposed to double jeopardy. "Correction of a sentence imposed in an illegal manner does not violate double jeopardy even if the correction increases the punishment, and the fact that [the defendant] has commenced serving the sentence is irrelevant." United States v. Stevens, 548 F.2d 1360, 1362-63 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 975, 97 S.Ct. 1666, 52 L.Ed.2d 369 (1977)."

United States v. Crawford, 769 F.2d 253 (5th Cir. 1985).

The Crawford rationale applies to this case. Brown's sentence was in no way final. He had no right to expect any treatment on appeal other than what he got from the Third District. By appealing his conviction, he gave the court the power to decide the sentence issue via cross appeal. The State also could have immediately sought relief via Writ of Prohibition before sentence was imposed. That life sentence was never final. No illegally imposed sentence is ever final if the state challenges it in a manner provided by law. See also: United States v. Colunga, 786 F.2d 655 (5th Cir. 1986); United States v. Stevens, 548 F.2d 1360 (9th Cir. 1977).

5. Authority relied upon by Brown

Brown's legal argument has one major weakness: he relies on caselaw applying the Double Jeopardy Clause to cases where proper sentencing procedures were followed in their entirety.

Rumsey, for example, involved a legal sentence imposed in a legal manner. After the jury reached a guilty verdict in a first degree murder trial the judge went on to conduct a complete penalty phase as required by law. The State argued in favor of death, pointing to the existence of three aggravating factors. The defendant followed with a witness and argument. After weighing all the aggravating and mitigating factors, a life sentence was imposed. The only error involved in that case had nothing to do with the procedure which produced the sentence. The error concerned the trial court's misinterpretation of one possible statutory aggravating factor.

The Supreme Court ruled that the sentence imposed after the completed Arizona capital sentencing hearing was an acquittal on the merits.

"The trial court entered findings denying the existence of each of the seven statutory aggravating circumstances, and as required by state law, the court then entered judgment in respondent's favor on the issue of death. That judgment, based on findings sufficient to establish legal entitlement to the life sentence, amounts to an acquittal on the merits and as such, bars any retrial of the appropriateness of the death penalty."

Rumsey, at 211.

Our case is easily distinguishable. There was never a proceeding which produced a finding on the merits, and hence

Brown was never "acquitted." As the Supreme Court stated in Poland v. Arizona, 476 U.S. _____, 90 L.Ed.2d 123, 106 S.Ct. _____ (1986):

Under Bullington and Rumsey, therefore, the relevant inquiry in the cases before us is whether the sentencing judge or the reviewing court has 'decid[ed] that the prosecution has not proved its case' for the death penalty and hence has 'acquitted' petitioners."

Poland, 90 L.Ed.2d at 131.

It is hard to see how Brown can claim an "acquittal" when there was never even a sentencing hearing held in his case. An "acquittal" can only be the product of a duly conducted completed penalty phase. Rumsey did nothing more than hold that improper legal rulings relied upon during the penalty phase do not serve to vitiate a defendant's "acquittal" and subsequent sentence to life imprisonment. An erroneous ruling in an otherwise proper proceeding only "affects the accuracy of [the court's] determination, [and] it does not alter its essential character." Rumsey, at 211.

Brown reliance upon Rumsey is misplaced.

Fasenmyer, a Florida case, is not even close to being dispositive of the Double Jeopardy issue raised in this appeal. That case dealt with a sentence which had already been fully served and later changed so as to be served consecutive to other sentences. It should also be noted that

the sentences in that case were all legally imposed; one of them was simply changed from concurrent to consecutive upon resentencing.

Troupe, another Florida case relied upon by Brown does little to help his cause. In Troupe, the trial court accepted the defendant's plea and sentenced him. A second Assistant State Attorney (one who had not participated in the plea colloquy and sentencing) later objected to the terms of the plea. The trial court set aside the plea and sentence, withdrawing the plea on the defendant's behalf.

This Court held that jeopardy had attached upon the original sentencing, noting that there was no procedure which permitted the State to recall the defendant and reopen the case. Brown's case is quite different. The State's cross appeal was a legitimate vehicle for redress. In Troupe, the State had no such means available.

It should also be noted the sentence in Troupe was legally imposed. The only objection to it had to do with the precise terms of the plea agreement. Brown's sentence was not legally imposed.

6. SUMMARY

Brown has not been placed in jeopardy as far as his resentencing is concerned. His life sentence, being illegally imposed, is subject to change when properly attacked. The State's cross appeal was a proper way to correct the trial court's sentencing error.

In addition to the Crawford case already cited, the State would point out that Brown is subject to greater punishment under the rule announced in North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969).

"We hold, therefore, that neither the double jeopardy provision nor the Equal Protection Clause imposes an absolute bar to a more severe sentence upon reconviction. A trial judge is not constitutionally precluded, in other words, from imposing a new sentence, whether greater or less than the original sentence, in the light of events subsequent to the first trial that may have thrown new light upon the defendant's "life, health, habits, conduct, and mental and moral propensities." Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241, 245, 93 L.Ed. 1337, 1341, 69 S.Ct. 1079. Such information may come to the judge's attention from evidence adduced at the second trial itself, from a new presentence investigation, from the defendant's prison record, or possibly from other sources. The freedom of a sentencing judge to consider the defendant's conduct subsequent to the first conviction in imposing a new sentence is

no more than consonant with the principle, fully approved in Williams v. New York, supra, that a State may adopt the prevalent modern philosophy of penology that the punishment should fit the offender and not merely the crime."

Pearce, at 723.

Brown's penalty phase should provide the trial court with aggravating factors (factors not presented previously for obvious reasons) which would provide the foundation for an increased sentence. Although Pearce is not identical to our case, the rationale is the same, viz., that increased punishment can be imposed if the sentencer is informed of aggravating factors previously unknown to it, and if the defendant is otherwise properly before the court for resentencing.

II.

THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT ON BOTH OF THE THEORIES UNDERLYING THE MURDER CHARGE WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR, WHERE NO OBJECTION WAS IMPOSED, AND WHERE THE EVIDENCE AMPLY SUPPORTED A FINDING OF FIRST DEGREE PREMEDITATED MURDER.

Brown was charged in the alternative. It was alleged that he either committed premeditated or felony murder. The underlying felonies were either drug trafficking or robbery. Only the robbery allegation was contained in a separate count in the indictment. (R. 1).⁶

The jury was instructed as to premeditated murder, felony murder, robbery, and principals. No instruction was given regarding drug trafficking, and no objection was raised regarding the failure to do so. (Tr. 553).

Brown takes the position that the trial court's failure to instruct on the trafficking charge constitutes fundamental error. He also candidly pointed out in his brief in the Third District, that Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), has held such a failure not to be error, where no objection was raised below and where there is evidence to support a finding of premeditated murder.

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